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PLAINTIFFS’ VERIFIED ORIGINAL COMPLAINT AND
APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AND JURY DEMAND

Plaintiffs Craig Schwimmer, M.D., M.P.H., F.A.C.S. (“Dr. Schwimmer”), Snoring
Center USA, L.L.C., Snoring Centers of Texas, P.A., and Snoring Center of Houston, P.A.
(collectively, “Plaintiffs™), file this Original Complaint against Defendants Presidio Industries
LLC, Wade A. Zander, Jason P. Godfrey, Matthew D. Mingrone, M.D., Sereno, Inc., Sereno
Management L.L.C., and Snoring Solutions Holdings, L.L.C. (collectively, “Defendants”), and
upon personal knowledge as to Plaintiffs’ own conduct and upon information and belief as to all
other matters, allege as follows:

L
NATURE OF ACTION

1. This is a civil action to recover damages and obtain a preliminary and permanent
injunction against Defendants for numerous unlawful acts that they have individually and
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collectively perpetrated against Dr. Schwimmer and the other Plaintiffs, acts that have caused
and continue to cause significant loss, damage, and irreparable harm to Plaintiffs in the conduct
of their medical practice.

2. Plaintiffs own and operate a revolutionary medical practice called The Snoring
Center™ which has offices in Dallas, Fort Worth, and Houston, Texas. The Snoring Centers is
dedicated exclusively to minimally invasive, office-based treatment of snoring and sleep apnea.
It is the first and largest such medical practice to exist in the United States. Plaintiffs’ business
model and the success they have enjoyed in operating The Snoring Center™ have been created by
Plaintiffs and Dr. Schwimmer in particular through extensive time, labor, skill, and money.

3. Defendants inveigled their way into Dr. Schwimmer’s confidence with false
statements as to their motives and intent, posing as potential investors or as a potential joint
venturer. As a result of their deception, Defendants obtained access to Plaintiffs’ trade secrets,
financial records, business strategies, and other proprietary and confidential information, which
they then wrongfully used to establish a competing medical practice, which they have called The
Center for Snoring Solutions. In doing so, Defendants have unfairly competed with Plaintiffs
under Texas and federal law by committing common law fraud, misappropriating Plaintiffs’
trade secrets, misappropriating their business model, publishing advertisements in interstate
commerce containing false statements about the qualities and characteristics of The Center for
Snoring Solutions and of The Snoring Center™™ in violation of 15 U.S.C. § 1125(a) and

disparaging The Snoring Centers in the operation of its business.
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II.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4. This Court possesses subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the
Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1051 ef seq., and 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1332, and 1338. The Court also
possesses supplemental jurisdiction over Plaintiffs’ state law claims under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1338
and 1367.

5. The Court possesses personal jurisdiction over the parties, and venue is proper in
. this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c) because a substantial part of the events or
omissions giving rise to the claims occurred and continue to occur in this District.

HI.
PARTIES

6. Plaintiff Craig Schwimmer, M.D., M.P.H., F.A.C.S. is an individual who resides
and operates a medical practice in Dallas County, Texas. Dr. Schwimmer’s principal place of
business is located at 6901 Snider Plaza, Dallas, Texas.

7. Plaintiff Snoring Center USA, LLC (“Snoring Center USA”) is a limited liability
corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas. Snoring Center USA’s principal
place of business is located at 6901 Snider Plaza, Dallas, Texas.

8. Plaintiff Snoring Centers of Texas, P.A. (“Snoring Centers of Texas”) is a
professional association incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas. Snoring Centers of
Texas’s principal place of business is located at 6901 Snider Plaza, Dallas, Texas.

9. Plaintiff Snoring Center of Houston, P.A. (“Snoring Center of Houston™) is a
professional association incorporated under the laws of the State of Texas. Snoring Center of

Houston’s principal place of business is located at 3900 Essex Lane, Suite 315, Houston, Texas.
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10.  Defendant Presidio Industries LLC (“Presidio™) is a limited liability corporation
incorporated under the laws of the State of California, whose registered office is located at 7164
Buckingham Boulevard, Berkeley, California 94705-1715. Presidio may be served with process
by serving its registered agent, Corporation Service Company, at 2730 Gateway Oaks Drive,
Suite 100, Sacramento, California 95833.

11.  Defendant Wade A. Zander (“Zander™) is an individual who resides in the State of
California and may be served with process at his residence at 220 Caldecott Lane, #318,
Oakland, California.

12.  Defendant Jason Godfrey (“Godfrey”) is an individual who resides in the State of
California and may be served with process at his residence at 7164 Buckingham Boulevard,
Berkeley, California.

13.  Defendant Matthew D. Mingrone, M.D. (“Dr. Mingrone™) is an individual who
resides in the State of California and may be served with process at his residence at 53 Whitney
Avenue, Los Gatos, California 95030-6231.

14.  Defendant Sereno, Inc. (“Sereno”) is a corporation incorporated under the laws of
the State of California. Defendant Sereno may be served with process by serving its registered
agent, Douglas S. Free, at 44 Montgomery Street, Suite 3380, San Francisco, California 94104-
4830.

15.  Defendant Sereno Management LLC (“Sereno Management”) is a limited liability
corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of California. Sereno Management may be
served with process by serving its registered agent, Douglas S. Free, at 44 Montgomery Street,

Suite 3380, San Francisco, California 94104-4830.
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16.  Defendant Snoring Solutions Holdings, LLC (“Snoring Solutions™) is a limited
liability corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of California. Snoring Solutions
may be served with process by serving its registered agent, Douglas S. Free, at 44 Montgomery
Street, Suite 3380, San Francisco, California 94104-4830.

IV.
MATERIAL FACTS APPLICABLE TO ALL COUNTS

A. Sleep-Disordered Breathing is a Significant Medical Problem

17. Snoring and sleep apnea are collectively referred to as sleep-disordered breathing.
These conditions affect some 75 million Americans, and are a major health issue. Even mild
snoring can disrupt sleep, depriving snorers and their bed partners of the rest they need. This
lack of sleep can cause everything from fatigue and short tempers to decreased job performance
and auto accidents. Snoring has even recently been cited as one of the most common causes of
divorce.

18.  Even more troubling from a medical perspective is the fact that loud, habitual
snoring may bé an indicator of obstructive sleep apnea — a disease estimated to affect up to 10%
of American adults. Sleep apnea has been linked to increased blood pressure, heart disease,
stroke, and other serious health issues.

B. Dr. Schwimmer Establishes The Snoring Center™

19.  Traditional treatment options for sleep-disordered breathing consisted primarily of
painful, invasive surgery or the use of poorly tolerated, cumbersome devices. Over the past
several years, newer treatment optiéns have become available. These minimally invasive
treatments allow many patients to be treated more conveniently. Dr. Schwimmer, a board-

certified otolaryngologist, recognized the potential market for these treatments and in 2004
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founded the Snoring Center of Dallas to market and provide these services to the public. He soon
became the leading authority on the use of, and on the successful marketing of, these services.

20. It is the unique combination of clinical expertise, entrepreneurial spirit, and
marketing savvy that allowed Dr. Schwimmer to create the idea of a fee-for-service, direct-to-
consumer marketed practice serving patients with sleep-disordered breathing. This market
segment simply did not exist until Dr. Schwimmer created it.

21.  The Snoring Center™ specializes in snoring and sleep apnea treatments that are
not only effective, they allow patients to get right back to their daily lives. Using the latest
technologies, The Snoring Center™ provides its patients with minimally invasive procedures
using only local anesthetics. It is the first practice of its kind in the United States of America.

C. The Snoring Center™™ Quickly Becomes the Largest Provider of the Pillar Procedure
in the United States

22. By December 2005, The Snoring Center™ had become recognized as Texas’s
leading provider (i.e., the highest volume user) of the Pillar Procedure. The Pillar Procedure is
an FDA-approved treatment for snoring and mild-to-moderate sleep apnea, and is The Snoring
Center™"’s most commonly performed procedure.

23. Owing to the enormous success and potential of the medical practice,
Dr. Schwimmer later dropped the geographic limitation “of Dallas” from the name of Plaintiffs’
medical practice because the potential to scale the business became evident early on, and because
its marketing efforts (and ability to draw patients) were geographically widespread. Since then,
the business has been known simply as “The Snoring Center™,” which is a nationally registered
trademark.

24.  From the very beginning, the status of The Snoring Center™ as “The Nation’s

Leading Provider of the Pillar Procedure” has been an effective, valuable, and key element of its
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ability to market to potential clients inside and outside its home market in Texas. Simply put,
clients were and continue to be willing to travel long distances from outside of Texas to be
treated by The Snoring Center™ because it has the most experience of any clinic of its kind.
Indeed, Medtronic, the current owner of the Pillar Procedure, prominently featured The Snoring
Center in its 2009 Annual Report, citing its status as its largest Pillar customer. In addition, the
Summer 2010 issue of “Wake-Up Call,” published by the American Sleep Apnea Association,
featured a story about the President of Medtronic ENT and how he chose to undergo his Pillar
Procedure at The Snoring Center™, “the site that performs more Pillar implants than any place
else in the world.”

25.  Plaintiffs, in particular Dr. Schwimmer, created the practice model and business
model for The Snoring Center™ through extensive time, labor, skill, and money. The Snoring
Center™ is the first clinic of its kind and remains to date the largest clinic of its kind. Plaintiffs’
business differs greatly from a traditional medical practice. The concept of a fee-for-service, no-
insurance, customer service oriented business model for minimally invasive snoring and sleep
apnea treatment did not exist until Dr. Schwimmer created it. The entire construct is his design —
and his methods, model and practices have been considered valuable and confidential from the
beginning.

D. Defendants Inveigle Their Way into Dr. Schwimmer’s Confidence by Posing as
Potential Investors

26.  In order to expand The Snoring Center, Dr. Schwimmer made efforts in 2008 to
secure growth capital from outside sources. He retained Adam Lambert of Nextband Partners to
identify potential investors. In early October 2008, Mr. Lambert introduced Dr. Schwimmer to
Defendants Zander and Godfrey who were affiliated with Defendant Presidio. On or about
October 16, 2008, during a visit to Dallas, Texas, Zander and Godfrey falsely represented to
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Dr. Schwimmer that they were interested in providing investment to him to enable him to grow
his medical practice. In reliance on that representation, Dr. Schwimmer engéged in open
discussions with Zander and Godfrey, allowed them to study his business in great detail, and
furnished Zander, Godfrey and Presidio with confidential financial and marketing data.
Dr. Schwimmer would not have engaged in these discussions and provided this information to
Zander, Godfrey, and Presidio but for this representation. Zander, Godfrey, and Presidio were
well aware that the information being provided to them by Dr. Schwimmer was confidential
because of the nature of the relationship between them and becausé it was clearly marked to that
effect.

27.  Dr. Schwimmer provided much closely-guarded confidential and proprietary
information to Zander, Godfrey, and Presidio (“Confidential Information”), including the
following information requested by them:

(a) Historical Financial Statements (2005, 2006, 2007), which included detailed
balance sheets, profit and loss statements, and detailed analysis of marketing
methods and budgets;

(b)  Detailed information on daily patient flow and revenue;

(c) Detailed pro forma analyses of projected new store financial performance;

(d) Sensitive marketing insights and analyses; and

() Insight into confidential pricing and co-op marketing agreements with suppliers.

28.  Zander and Godfrey visited Dr. Schwimmer in Dallas, Texas on more than one
occasion to elicit Confidential Information from him. Specifically, on October 16, 2008, and
again on November 18, 2008, Zander and Godfrey travelled to Dallas to gather information

about Plaintiffs’ business and discuss investment ideas with Dr. Schwimmer.
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29.  After obtaining volumes of confidential and proprietary information about
Plaintiffs’ business from Dr. Schwimmer, Zander, Godfrey, and Presidio made a patently
ridiculous investment proposal to Dr. Schwimmer. Their proposal grossly understated the value
of Plaintiffs’ business, so much so that Dr. Schwimmer believes the proposal was made in bad
faith and demonstrates that Defendants had no genuine intent to make an investment in
Plaintiffs’ business, but rather were seeking a way to usurp the value of the business for
themselves. Dr. Schwimmer rejected the proposal. At this point, Defendants claimed to have
“lost interest in the space” and commented, falsely as it turned out, that they did not see the
growth potential in Dr. Schwimmer’s business. The falsity of these claims is demonstrated by
the fact the Defendants opened their own competing medical practice, as described below.

E. Dr. Mingrone Obtains Additional Confidential Information from Dr. Schwimmer
by Posing as a Potential Local Partner

30.  Medtronic, the medical supply company that now owns the Pillar Procedure and
provides Dr. Schwimmer with the medical supplies required to perform that procedure, has been
aware for some time that Dr. Schwimmer planned to grow The Snoring Center* by opening
offices across the United States. In order to assist Dr. Schwimmer in this plan, Medtronic has
introduced Dr. Schwimmer to ENT doctors who are interested in growing their fee-for-service
snoring business. One such introduction was made in June 2009, when Medtronic introduced
Dr. Schwimmer to Defendant Dr. Mingrone.

31.  Dr.Mingrone represented to Dr. Schwimmer that he wanted to explore the
possibility of a joint venture with Dr. Schwimmer in the San Francisco Bay area in California.
He also told Dr. Schwimmer that he had interviewed for a job with Defendants, but had not been

hired.

PLAINTIFFS’ VERIFIED ORIGINAL COMPLAINT AND Page 9

APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION AND JURY DEMAND
10_11_02_Verified_Complaint[2]




Case 3:10-cv-022137b Document1 Filed 11/03/10 Pi 10 of 26 PagelD 10

32.  In reliance on Dr. Mingrone’s representation that he wanted to enter into a joint
venture with him, Dr. Schwimmer disclosed confidential and proprietary information to
Dr. Mingrone relating to the business of The Snoring Center™™. Dr. Mingrone expressly agreed
with Dr. Schwimmer that all of the information Dr. Schwimmer would disclose to him in the
course of their discussions regarding the potential joint venture was confidential and that
Dr. Mingrone would keep it confidential. Dr. Schwimmer would not have disclosed this
information to Dr. Mingrone if he had not made this agreement. They spoke extensively about
Dr. Schwimmer’s medical practice, which Dr. Mingrone visited in Texas. Their discussions
continued for several months until Dr. Mingrone suddenly became very scarce, only to resurface
shortly afterwards as Medical Director for Defendants’ competing medical practice which they
opened in the San Francisco Bay area, as described below. In addition to the Confidential
Information described above, Dr. Schwimmer disclosed to Dr. Mingrone confidential marketing
information, including the following;:

(@) Information regarding Dr. Schwimmer’s confidential advertising strategy, which
including placing advertisements in Southwest Airlines Spirit in-flight magazine;
and

(b) The strategy behind the look, feel, and style of Dr. Schwimmer’s office locations.
For the purposes of this Complaint, the information described in this paragraph is included in the

definition of “Confidential Information.”

F. Defendants Open a Competing Medical Practice

33.  In January 2010, despite having told Dr. Schwimmer that they had lost interest in
the space, Defendants opened their own competing medical practice in the San Francisco Bay

area in California. Defendants hired Dr. Mingrone as Medical Director of the practice.
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Defendants’ practice was modeled precisely on the business model of The Snoring Center that
Defendants had learned about through their confidential discussions with Dr. Schwimmer.
Defendants’ competing medical practice is dedicated to minimally invasive, office-based
treatment of snoring and sleep apnea, just like The Snoring Center™. Defendants are providing
the same minimally invasive medical procedures as The Snoring Center™, including the Pillar
Procedure. Defendants have deliberately styled the décor, look, and feel of their office location
to emulate the mid-century modern décor, look, and feel of the Plaintiffs’ locations. Recently,
Defendants have started advertising in the same advertising media as Plaintiffs. Defendants even
called their medical practice The Center for Snoring Solutions, a clear attempt to mimic
Plaintiffs’ business model to the last degree, Plaintiffs’ business being named The Snoring
Center™. Defendants have also incorporated a crescent moon symbol into the name of their
medical practice, as displayed on their website and in magazine advertisements, just as Plaintiffs’
nationally registered trademark includes a crescent moon symbol. As described in more detail
below, Defendants have started publishing statements in magazine advertisements and on their
website falsely attributing to their medical practice characteristics and qualities that actually
describe Plaintiffs’ medical practice, The Snoring Centers. In short, Defendants are attempting
by all means at their disposal to mimic Plaintiffs’ medical practice in an effort to unlawfully
usurp the value and success of Plaintiffs’ enterprise.

G. Defendants Are Promoting Their Competing Medical Practice by Using False
Advertising and Unlawful Business Disparagement

34.  In recent weeks, Defendants have become increasingly aggressive, brazen, and
outrageous in their efforts to compete unfairly with Plaintiffs. For example, Defendants
approached Plaintiffs’ Dallas-based advertising agency, Pink Jacket Creative LLC, and tried to

lure it away from them to help promote Defendants’ medical practice in competition with
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Plaintiffs. In addition, Defendants have started advertising The Center for Snoring Solutions very
aggressively and emulating Plaintiffs’ business model more closely then ever before. Plaintiffs
have advertised The Snoring Center™ regularly in the Southwest Airlines Spirit magazine. In
September and October 2010, Defendants have advertised The Center for Snoring Solutions in
the very same magazine in a clear attempt to influence Dr. Schwimmer’s potential customers.
Dr. Schwimmer disclosed Plaintiffs’ strategy of advertising in this magazine to Dr. Mingrone in
confidence. Upon information and belief, Dr. Mingrone wrongfully disclosed the confidential
strategy to the other Defendants in violation of the duty of confidentiality that he owed Plaintiffs.

35.  Defendants’ advertisements in Southwest Airline’s Spirit magazine contained
several false statements about the characteristics and qualities of The Center for Snoring
Solutions, which were designed to influence consumers, including potential clients of Plaintiffs.
For example, Defendants made the following false statements:

(a) “Sereno, The Center for Snoring Solutions, is a revolutionary medical practice
uniquely designed to evaluate and then treat the complex problems that cause your snoring using
minimally invasive treatments.”

(b) “There has never been a practice like Sereno before.”

(c) “We are the first practice of its kind exclusively dedicated to providing
comprehensive solutions to this very complex and multi-factorial condition.”

36.  These statements are literally false because The Center for Snoring Solutions is
not a “revolutionary medical practice uniquely designed” to treat snoring and sleep apnea. As
Defendants well know, The Snoring Center™™ had already been in existence providing the same
medical services in the same way for at least six years before The Center for Snoring Solutions
was opened. In fact, there has been a practice like Sereno before: it is The Snoring Center™
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owned and operated by Plaintiffs. Defendants’ medical practice is not the first practice of its
kind exclusively dedicated to treating snoring and sleep apnea. As Defendants well know, The
Snoring Center is the first such practice.

37. By making these false statements in their advertisements, Defendants are also
making false and disparaging statements about the characteristics and qualities of The Snoring
Center™. Defendants are falsely stating to the consuming public by clear and unmistakable
implication that The Snoring Centers is not a revolutionary medical practice uniquely designed
to evaluate and treat snoring and sleep apnea, that The Snoring Center™ either does not exist at
all or does not provide the same type of medical services as Defendants or was not the first
practice of this kind. Defendants are well aware that these statements are false because of their
prior knowledge of Plaintiffs’ medical practice.

38.  Defendants have also made false statements about the characteristics and qualities
of their medical practice on The Center for Snoring Solutions’ website, which is accessible in
Texas, including the following false statements:

(a) “We are the largest practice in the world specializing in simple minimally
invasive effective techniques to alleviate these complex conditions” referring to snoring and
sleep apnea.

(b)  “Sereno is the largest provider of the Pillar Procedure in the world.”

39.  The foregoing statements are literally false because Defendants’ practice is not
the largest practice in the world specializing in simple minimally invasive techniques to alleviate
snoring and sleep apnea, nor are Defendants the largest provider of the Pillar Procedure in the

world. These distinctions belong to The Snoring Center™ and to Plaintiffs.
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40. By making these false statements on their website, Defendants are also making
false and disparaging statements about the characteristics and qualities of The Snoring Centers.
They are falsely stating to the consuming public by clear and unmistakable implication that The
Snoring Center™ is not the largest practice in the world specializing in simple minimally invasive
effective techniques to alleviate snoring and sleep apnea and that The Snoring Center is not the
largest provider of the Pillar Procedure in the world. Defendants are well aware that these
statements are false because of their prior knowledge of Plaintiffs’ medical practice.

41.  Upon information and belief, Defendants have published these false statements in
the advertisements described above and on their website in order to influence consumers in their
choice of medical service provider, more specifically in order to induce them to choose The
Center for Snoring Solutions instead of The Snoring Centers for treatment of snoring and sleep
apnea.

H. Defendants’ Wrongful Acts Have Caused and Will Continue to Cause Loss,
Damage, and Irreparable Harm to Plaintiffs

42. By perpetrating the improper acts described above, Defendants are guilty of false
advertising under the Lanham Act, business disparagement, fraud, misappropriation of trade
secrets, common law misappropriation, and unfair competition under Texas law. Plaintiffs have
suffered loss, damage, and irreparable harm as result of these wrongful actions, including loss
and damage to the business reputation and goodwill of The Snoring Center™. Plaintiffs will
continue to suffer loss, damage, and irreparable harm unless Defendants are enjoined from
continuing to use Plaintiffs’ trade secrets in pursuing their competing business, and from
continuing to publish advertisements containing false statements about their own medical

practice, and false and disparaging statements about Plaintiffs’ medical practice.
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V.
COUNT I - FALSE ADVERTISING

43.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through IV above.

44.  Defendants have used and continue to use in interstate commerce in connection
with the medical services provided by Defendants through The Center for Snoring Solutions
false words, namely, the false statements described in paragraphs 35-38 above. These false
statements are literally untrue and falsely attribute to The Center for Snoring Solutions
characteristics and qualities that it does not possess and which are actually possessed by The
Snoring Center™. Defendants’ use of these false statements has either deceived or has the
capacity to deceive a substantial segment of potential consumers. Defendants’ deception is
material because it is likely to influence the consumers’ purchasing decisions. Consequently,
Defendants’ use of these false statements is likely to cause confusion, mistake, or deception as to
affiliation, connection, or association of The Center for Snoring Solutions with The Snoring
Center™ or as to the origin, sponsorship, or approval of Defendants’ medical services or
commercial activities by Dr. Schwimmer and the other Plaintiffs.

45.  Defendants’ conduct constitutes false advertising in violation of 15 U.S.C.
§ 1125(a). Defendants’ wrongful activities have caused and are likely to cause additional injury
to Plaintiffs if not enjoined. . Plaintiffs have no adequate remedy at law. Defendants’ false
advertising has caused, and if not enjoined by this Court as provided by 15 U.S.C. § 1116, will
continue to cause, irreparable harm to Plaintiffs and to the business reputation and goodwill of
The Snoring Center™ for which monetary relief will not fully compensate.

46.  Defendants’ infringing conduct has been willful, making this an exceptional case
under 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a). Consequently, the Court may and Plaintiffs, therefore, request the

Court to award Plaintiffs reasonable attorney’s fees and to assess damages at three times the
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amount of actual damages suffered by Plaintiffs and/or at three times the amount of Defendants’
profits earned by their wrongful conduct.

VI.
COUNT 11 - COMMON LAW FRAUD

47.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through V above.

48.  Defendants Zander, Godfrey and Presidio knowingly and falsely represented to
Plaintiffs that they were interested in providing investment capital to Dr. Schwimmer in order to
enable him to expand the operations of The Snoring Center™. This representation was false
because Defendants’ true intention was to obtain confidential information regarding Plaintiffs’
medical practice and business model in order to enable them to open up a competing business of
their own.

49.  Defendants’ false representations were material because they were calculated to
induce Dr. Schwimmer to disclose Plaintiffs’ confidential and proprietary information to
Defendants, which Plaintiffs otherwise would not have been willing to disclose to them.
Defendants made the false representations to Dr. Schwimmer with the intent that he should rely
on them.

50.  In reliance upon Defendants’ false representations, Dr. Schwimmer disclosed
confidential and proprietary information to the Defendants regarding The Snoring Center™* and
Plaintiffs’ unique business model, including the Confidential Information. Dr. Schwimmer
would not have disclosed the Confidential Information or any confidential and proprietary
information regarding The Snoring Center™ if Defendants had not made the foregoing false
representations. As a result of such reliance, Plaintiffs have suffered injury, in that Defendants

have misused the Confidential Information and other confidential and proprietary information
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that Dr. Schwimmer disclosed to them in order to open a competing medical practice and divert
potential customers away from Plaintiffs’ medical practice, The Snoring Centers.

VIL
COUNT 111 - MISAPPROPRIATION OF TRADE SECRETS

51.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through VI above.

52. At all times mentioned in this Complaint, Plaintiffs have been engaged in the
business of providing medical services for the evaluation and treatment of snoring disorders and
sleep apnea through their medical practice known as The Snoring Center™. In the course of
devising, establishing, and operating this medical practice, Plaintiffs developed through
extensive time, skill, labor, and money a unique business model and related confidential and
proprietary information, including the information described in paragraphs 27 and 32 above
(“Confidential Information™). At all times, Plaintiff kept the Confidential Information
confidential, labeled it as “Confidential,” and did not disclose it to persons who were not
connected with Plaintiffs’ medical practice.

53.  As described above, by posing as potential investors and as a result of making
fraudulent misrepresentations to Dr. Schwimmer, Defendants Zander, Godfrey, and Presidio
obtained access to and copies of Plaintiffs’ Confidential Information. Defendants knew that the
Confidential Information was confidential because of the confidential circumstances in which it
was disclosed to them and because it was marked as confidential.

54.  As described above, Defendant Dr. Mingrone represented to Dr. Schwimmer that
he was interested in entering into a joint venture with Dr. Schwimmer and expressly agreed with
Dr. Schwimmer that the information that Dr. Schwimmer would disclose to him in the context of
discussing the potential joint venture was confidential and would be treated as confidential by

Dr. Mingrone.
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55. Instead of using the Confidential Information confidentially for the sole purpose
for which it was disclosed to them, however, Defendants have wrongfully used that information
to open up their own unfairly competing medical practice, usurping Plaintiffs’ business model
and trade secrets. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiffs have lost
customers to Defendants and will continue to lose customers to them as a result of Defendants’
unfair competition. Plaintiffs are also suffering loss of potential profits that would accrue to
them but for Defendants” wrongful conduct. The total loss to Plaintiffs cannot be accurately
measured at this time. However, unless Defendants are enjoined from using Plaintiffs’
Confidential Information, Plaintiffs will suffer irreparable harm.

VIIIL.
COUNT IV - COMMON LAW MISAPPROPRIATION

56.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through VII above.

57. At all times mentioned in this Complaint, Plaintiffs have been engaged in the
business of providing medical services for the evaluation and treatment of snoring disorders and
sleep apnea through their medical practice known as The Snoring Center™. In the course of
devising, establishing, and operating this medical practice, Plaintiffs developed a unique business
model through extensive time, skill, labor, and money.

58.  Defendants have wrongfully used Plaintiffs’ business model in competition with
Plaintiffs, thereby giving Defendants an unfair, special, competitive advantage over Plaintiffs
because having acquired intimate and detailed confidential and proprietary knowledge of
Plaintiffs’ business model and Plaintiffs’> Confidential Information in the course of the
confidential discussions described in this Complaint, Defendants were burdened with little or

none of the expense incurred by Plaintiffs in creating this unique business model.
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59.  As a result of Defendants’ wrongful misappropriation of Plaintiffs’ business
model, Plaintiffs have suffered commercial damage, including damage to the business reputation
and goodwill of The Snoring Center® and loss of pfoﬁts from clients that were diverted away
from The Snoring Centers as a result of Defendants’ actions.

60.  Plaintiffs will be irreparably injured unless such action is enjoined by this Court
as provided by Texas law.

IX.
COUNT V — BUSINESS DISPARAGEMENT

61.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through VIII above.

62.  Defendants knowingly and willfully published false and disparaging words
regarding Plaintiffs’ economic interests in the advertisements placed in Southwest Airlines Spirit
magazine and in the Sereno website, as alleged in paragraphs 34-41 above.

63.  The disparaging words were false, as stated in paragraphs 34-41 above.

64. Defendants acted with malice because they knew, based on their prior knowledge
of Plaintiffs’ medical practice, that the words were false, or acted with reckless disregard for the
truth of those words and because Defendants acted with ill will and for the purpose of interfering
with Plaintiffs’ economic interests. As a result, Plaintiffs have suffered loss and damage,
including loss of clients, revenues, and profits, loss of business opportunities, and damage to the
business reputation and goodwill of their medical practice, The Snoring Centers“.

65.  Defendants acted with grossly malicious intent in disparaging Plaintiffs’ business,
unfairly competing with Plaintiffs so as to induce potential customers to obtain medical services
from Defendants, rather than from The Snoring Centers, acting out of ill will towards Plaintiffs

and for the sole purpose of damaging the business reputation and goodwill of The Snoring
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Center™ and depriving Plaintiffs of prospective customers. For these reasons, Plaintiffs are
entitled to an award of exemplary damages.

66.  Furthermore, Plaintiffs will be irreparably injured unless Defendants are enjoined
by this Court from continuing to disparage The Snoring Center*™ in its advertisements, website,
and other promotional publications.

X.
COUNT VI - EXEMPLARY DAMAGES

67.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through IX above.

68. The numerous wrongs done to Plaintiffs by Defendants, as described above, were
aggravated by the kind of malice for which the law allows the imposition of exemplary damages,
in that Defendants’ actions were specifically intended to cause substantial injury to Plaintiffs. In
addition, the wrongs done by Defendants were aggravated by the kind of fraud for which the law
allows the imposition of exemplary damages, in that Defendants made material
misrepresentations that were false, knowing that they were false, or with reckless disregard as to
their truth and as a positive assertion, with the intent that the representations be acted on by
Plaintiffs. Plaintiffs relied on the representations and suffered injury as a result of their reliance
on them. Plaintiffs, therefore, seek an award of exemplary damages in an amount within the
jurisdictional limits of the court.

XI.
APPLICATION FOR PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION

69.  Plaintiffs incorporate the allegations set forth in Sections I through X above.
70.  There is a substantial likelihood that Plaintiffs will prevail on their claims against

Defendants, based on the facts asserted above.
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71. Defendants’ actions have caused, and will continue to cause, irreparable injury to
Plaintiffs, and the threatened injury outweighs any hypothetical damage that the proposed
injunction may cause Defendants. Finally, the public interest favors the issuance of an injunction
in this case.

72.  Plaintiffs seek a preliminary injunction against Defendants, prohibiting them and
their respective officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, related companies,
licensees, and all persons acting for, with, by, through, and under any of them until trial of this
action or further order of the Court in the meantime from: (1) making any false statements,
including the statements described above, regarding the characteristics and qualities of The
Center for Snoring Solutions or regarding the characteristics and qualities of The Snoring
Center™ in any advertisement published in any advertising medium, including any website
operated by or for Defendants; (2) making any false and disparaging statements about the
characteristics and qualities of The Snoring Center™™ to any person by any means; and (3) using
any confidential information provided by Dr. Schwimmer to Defendants or any of them,
including the Confidential Information, for any purpose whatsoever.

73.  Plaintiffs are willing to post bond in an amount to be determined by the Court.

XII.
TRIAL BY JURY

74.  Plaintiffs hereby request a trial by jury.

XIII.
PRAYER

For the reasons stated above, Plaintiffs pray that this Court enter judgment in their favor

and award the following relief:
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@ a preliminary and permanent injunction prohibiting Defendants and their
respective officers, directors, agents, servants, employees, attorneys, related companies,
licensees, and all persons acting for, with, by, through, and under any of them, from (1) making
any false statements, including the statements described above, regarding the characteristics and
qualities of The Center for Snoring Solutions or regarding the characteristics and qualities of The
Snoring Center™ in any advertisement published in any advertising medium, including any
website operated by or for Defendants, (2) making any false and disparaging statements about
the characteristics and qualities of The Snoring Center™ to any person by any means, and
(3) using any confidential information provided by Dr. Schwimmer to Defendants or any of
them, including the Confidential Information (as defined above), for any purpose whatsoever,
and a permanent injunction compelling Defendants to return all copies of such confidential
information to Plaintiffs and to permanently purge all electronic copies of such confidential
information from any digital storage medium owned or controlled by or on behalf of Defendants
or any of them;

(b)  judgment in favor of Plaintiffs for actual and statutory damages in an amount to
be determined by the Court, and that such damages be trebled pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a);

(¢)  judgment in favor of Plaintiffs for infringers’ profits, enhanced as appropriate
pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a);

(d)  judgment awarding Plaintiffs exemplary damages;

| (e) judgment awarding prejudgment and postjudgment interest;

® judgment awarding Plaintiffs all costs of the action and reasonable attorney’s fees

pursuant to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. § 1117(a); and

(2) such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.
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Respectfully submitted,

NIz
By: // , <

Michael K. Hurst
mhurst@ghjhlaw.com

Texas State Bar No. 10316310
Anthony J. Magee
amagee@ghjhlaw.com

Texas State Bar No. 00786081

Gruber Hurst Johansen & Hail LLP
1445 Ross Avenue, Suite 2500

Dallas, Texas 75202

214/855-6800 (main)

214/855-6808 (facsimile)

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS
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VERIFICATION
)
STATE OF TEXAS )
COUNTY OF BaTrAs HARRIS )
)

Before me, the undersigned Notary Public, on this day personally appeared Craig
Schwimmer, who, after being duly sworn, stated under oath that he is a Plaintiff in this action;
that he is authorized to make this Verification on Plaintiffs’ behalf; that he has read the above
Complaint; and that every factual statement regarding his conduct and the conduct of others
observed by him contained in the complaint is within his personal knowledge and is true and
correct and that every other statement of fact contained in the Complaint is based upon
information and belief and is to the best of his knowledge true and correct.

. _—

Craig Schwimmer

SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN TO BEFORE ME on thisznd day of November, 2010, to certify
which witness my hand and official seal.

[Affix Seal]
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